FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/12/2020 12:34 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/12/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Case No. <u>98889-7</u>

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals Division I, Case No. 79934-7-1

KEITH WELCH

Defendant/Appellant,

v.

US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

Plaintiff/Appellee.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Keith Welch, Defendant/Appellant PO Box 1548 Mukilteo, WA 98275

Telephone: (206) 751-9927 Email: kpwjr@worldnet.att.net

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner, Keith Welch, pro se, seeks the relief set forth below.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) (3) and (4), Petitioner, Keith Welch, request that this Court review the unpublished decision by Division I of the Court of Appeals filed on June 15, 2020, in re: *Keith Welch v. US Bank National Association, et al.* (Appendix A).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Does Appellant Welch establish a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) if his petition identifies a conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and a decision of the Supreme Court?
- B. Does Appellant Welch establish a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals?
- C. Does Appellant Welch establish a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States?
- D. Does Appellant Welch establish a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court?

On June 15, 2020, the Court of Appeals filed an unpublished opinion. This decision addresses issues of great importance to public and private interests in this State.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellee US Bank NA's counsel John M. Thomas, articulated at the May 3, 2019, "Show Cause" hearing that the *posted* order to show cause, (which was posted on the 24th of April, 2019) was "good enough."

MR. THOMAS: The Court did order and allow alternative service. The process server's affidavit that's on file with the Court says that the process server served by alternative service on the 26th, which was nine days before the summons return date.

MR. THOMAS: As far as the notice for this hearing, that was also nine days before the hearing date. The declaration of service for this order to show cause says that it was on the 24th of April. The process server *posted* the order to show cause and did a follow-up mailing that same day, that was *also* nine days ago... "So, I don't see that there is any issue regarding service Your Honor." *Verbatim Report of the Court Proceedings* 5/3/2019, Pg. 20.

As stated above, US Bank NA's counsel Thomas *clearly* admitted that based on the dates between "*mailing*," "*posting*" and the "*Order to Show Cause*" *hearing*," he did *not* comply with the personal service requirements pursuant to CR 6(e), RCW 59.18.370, or the (9) nine court days' pursuant to SCLCR6(d)(2)(i).

Moreover, in a recent response to Appellant Welch's appeal motion filed with the Court of Appeals, dated November 14, 2019, US Bank NA's counsel Thomas stated that the trial court *rejected* the (9) nine court day argument. Because US Bank NA's counsel Thomas provides *no* evidence that the trial court, pursuant to SCLCR6(d)(2)(i), had the legal authority to

reject Appellant Welch's "due process" rights under the nine (9) court day rule, nor can counsel Thomas provide this Court with *any* evidence that the trial court even ruled on the issue, the case was subject to dismissal for failure of service of process.

Additionally, RCW 59.18.370 states in relevant part: "A copy of the order, together with a copy of the summons and complaint if not previously served upon the defendant, shall be *served* upon the defendant."

Therefore, regardless of US Bank's counsel Thomas' argument that the trial court purportedly rejected RCW 59.18.370, and the (9) nine court day rule, is simply without merit and a fatal ending to Mr. Thomas's case.

Furthermore, the trial court ignored Appellant Welch's summary judgment declaration swore under oath which controverts US Bank's service compliance arguments.

Moreover, Appellant Welch's declarations swore under oath, should have been considered by the Court of Appeals as being given the same weight as the declaration which was provided by the Defendant US Bank NA's.

Finally, all this boils down to is due process. Non-compliance will not pass the "due process" test. Appellant Welch was entitled to due process. US Bank NA, instituted a *new* lawsuit, and however much they don't like it, they had to *personally* serve Appellant Welch, with the "Order

to Show Cause" hearing and comply with proper service pursuant to SCLCR 6(d)(2)(i).

Therefore, the trial court was without legal authority to rule, uphold or amend US Bank NA's deficient service of process.

The case was subject to dismissal for failure of service of process.

The hearing should have been stricken.

Finally, Appellant Welch and this Court would both acknowledge that possession actions are supposed to be summary proceedings intended for expeditious resolution of disputes within its scope and that jury trials might present a challenge to judicial economy and efficiency throughout the state. Nevertheless, the law requires clarification regarding the applicability in the *US Bank NA*, *vs. Welch, et, al.* case, regarding possession matters in light of the Washington Courts and the legislative amendments removing the express due process right on appeal possession actions.

Furthermore, Appellant Welch and this Court would find possession action akin to a breach of contract claim—a traditional legal cause of action— and would: (1) hold that the trial court erred when it ruled against Appellant Welch; (2) reverse the trial court's judgment in favor of Appellant Welch; and (3) remand the matter for a jury trial. The trial court's judgment is reversed, and the case is remanded.

Therefore, due to the general importance of the issues presented and for the purpose of reexamining existing law, this case should be transferred to the Supreme Court under RAP 13.4(b).

V. ARGUMENT

A. Appellant Welch Has Established a Basis for Review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) Because His Petition Does Identify a Significant Question of Law Under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States.

Appellant Welch has established that the Court of Appeals opinion in applying the "harmless error test" to the Skagit County Local Court Rule (SCLCR) 6(d)(2)(i), did prejudicially violate Appellant Welch's civil rights under due process. Moreover, the Court of Appeals opinion, did confirm, with the citation of (2) two criminal cases that Appellee US Bank's service did in fact violate SCLCR 6(d)(2)(i), court rule, though it was the Court of Appeals opinion that it was a harmless violation of the local rule.

Furthermore, was it an expansion of a nonconforming use for the Court of Appeals to base its opinion on the harmless error test when citing criminal cases in a civil case matter as controlling law?

To the extent Washington case law distinguishes between permissible intensification and improper expansion, it does so only to protect nonconforming uses against constitutionally protected intensification. This is a subtle but important distinction, which the Court of Appeals may have overlooked or misapprehended.

Courts rely on the rules of statutory construction to interpret court rules. *State v. Blilie*, 132 Wn.2d 484, 492, 939 P.2d 691 (1997). Generally, courts attempt to give effect to the plain terms of a statute. *Tommy P. v. Board of Cy. Comm'rs*, 97 Wn.2d 385, 391, 645 P.2d 697 (1982); *see also, State v. Beaver*, 148 Wn.2d 338, 343, 60 P.3d 586 (2002) (every statutory term is intended to have some material effect). Whether oral or written findings are required is a question of law, which the Court of Appeals reviews *de novo. State v. Hanson*, 151 Wn.2d 783, 784-85, 91 P.3d 888 (2004). This Court applies canons of statutory interpretation when construing court rules. *State v. Robinson*, 153 Wn.2d 689, 692, 107 P.3d 90 (2005). The plain language of a court rule controls when it is unambiguous. *Robinson*, 153 Wn.2d at 693. Where the terms of a court rule are unambiguous the plain language controls and no interpretation is necessary. *State v. Robinson*, 153 Wn.2d 689, 693, 107 P.3d 90 (2005).

Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' failure to apply a presumption of prejudice, as required by the constitutional harmless error test, conflicts with precedent and merits review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). The proper test is a constitutional issue worthy of this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Further, the issue concerning the proper application of the harmless error test will recur and qualifies as a matter of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This Court should grant review to clarify that the Washington standard provides more, than the legal doctrine of harmless error typically found in the Federal Rules of *Criminal* Procedure.

B. The Trial Court Erred in Denying Appellant Welch's Due Process Rights under the United States and Washington Constitution.

Appellant Welch has a constitutionally protected interest in an opportunity to meaningfully defend actions filed against him in state courts. Both the state and federal constitutions provide these protections, grounded in due process, which prohibit any state action that infringes upon an individual's interest in life, liberty, and property. Because Appellant Welch may have had a property interest, he cannot be deprived of that interest without a full and fair procedure provided at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.

The state and federal constitutions also provide for a right to a jury trial. The issue before this Court is whether that right exists in possession actions where it is not expressly provided for in the Revised Code of Washington Statutes.

1. Due Process.

The present case involves a fundamental constitutional right enjoyed by all United States citizens: protection from state action to deprive Appellant Welch of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law. The Fourteenth Amendment guarantees an individual a fair legal process before he can be deprived of these constitutionally protected interests.

In *Lindsey v. Normet*, 405 U.S. 56, 67 (1972), the U.S. Supreme Court held that due process requires states to provide individuals the opportunity to be heard in a meaningful time and a meaningful manner with the ability to present "every available defense" in determining the measure of process necessary. In expanding on the definition of a meaningful time and manner, the Court has also stated "absent a full, fair, potentially effective opportunity" to address allegations against a party, the right to a hearing would be "but a barren one."

The Court further has acknowledged that depending on circumstances of the individual case, a meaningful time and manner can be anything from an extensive evidentiary hearing to a simple process that makes an "initial check against mistaken decisions[.]"

The Court further held that the following factors must be considered when determining whether a procedure provides an individual sufficient due process protections:

"First, the private interest that will be affected by the official action; second, the risk of an erroneous deprivation of such interest through the procedures used, and the probable value, if any, of additional or substitute procedural safeguards; and finally, the Government's interest, including the function involved and the fiscal and administrative burdens that the additional or substitute procedural requirement would entail."

While the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution extends federal due process protections to state actions, the Washington

State Constitution contains its own due process clause mirroring the language of the United States Constitution, U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1, (stating "no person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law.").

2. <u>Judicial Economy Should Not Trump Due Process.</u>

What is unclear about the Court of Appeals interpretation of the summary proceeding here, is why US Bank NA's right to recover physical possession of the property is supreme to the Appellant Welch's property interest in retaining physical possession of a property in which he has a lawful and constitutionally-protected interest. The trial court's decision to deny Appellant Welch's his constitutional right over the concerns of judicial efficiency and economy, reinforce the principle that Appellant Welch's possessory interest was somehow less. The trial court failed to consider whether the procedural scheme might limit important rights, by requiring Appellant Welch to litigate them before returning possession to the purported owner. As a result, the Court of Appeals elevated the property rules designed to restore an income stream to the owner over the fairness concerns involved in resolving disputes regarding parties' rights. property rules validated in *Lindsey* arose in the context of conflicting claims of ownership and were designed to protect persons with possession and status (i.e., owners of land) against hostile claims.

Appellant Welch contends that a trial court in an unlawful detainer action lacks jurisdiction if a party fails to comply with the alternate service of process requirements under RCW 59.12.085, and subsequently failed to serve a proper summons under RCW 59.12.070.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals in applying the "harmless error test" to the Skagit County Local Court Rule (SCLCR) 6(d)(2)(i), did prejudicially violate Appellant Welch's civil rights under due process.

Furthermore, Appellee US Bank NA, failed to provide/serve Appellant Welch, proper notice of Appellee's show cause motion/hearing, thereby depriving Appellant Welch of his due process rights under the United States U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1.

RAP 13.4 (b) provides:

"A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

Appellant Welch established these criteria in his petition for review.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, this Court should accept review and address whether the Court of Appeals June 15, 2020, ruling should be overruled.