FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/11/2020 3:33 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98889-7 (Court of Appeals Cause No. 79934-7-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KEITH WELCH,

Defendant/Appellant,

v.

US BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,

Plaintiff/Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

John M. Thomas, WSBA No. 42447 McCarthy & Holthus, LLP 920 SW Third Avenue, 1st Floor Portland, OR 97204 Telephone: (971) 201-3200 jthomas@mccarthyholthus.com Of Attorneys for Respondent

I. Introduction

Appellant seeks discretionary review of the Unpublished Opinion affirming the Skagit County Superior Court's judgment for restitution restoring possession of real property to Respondent in an unlawful detainer action.

II. Statement of the Case

This is a post-foreclosure eviction – the parties are not in a landlord-tenant relationship. Plaintiff-Respondent commenced an unlawful detainer action on November 9, 2018. On December 4, 2019, Plaintiff moved for an Order Authorizing Alternative Service pursuant to RCW 59.12.085, which was granted on December 5, 2018. Plaintiff subsequently issued an Amended Eviction Summons dated December 14, 2018, requiring a written response from Defendants no later than January 4, 2019. Plaintiff completed service of the Amended Eviction Summons and Complaint on December 26, 2018.

After service of process was completed, Plaintiff moved for an Order to Show Cause pursuant to RCW 59.12.090, which was granted on April 5, 2019. On April 25, 2019, Appellant filed a document entitled, "Defendants Answer and Affirmative Defenses; and to Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint;

and Grant Defendant a Continuance under CR 56(f); and for Costs and Fees under CR 56(g)." In opposition to Petitioner's aforementioned answer, Respondent subsequently filed "Plaintiff's Response in Opposition to Defendant Keith Welch's Motion for Summary Judgment Pursuant to CR 56(g)," on May 1, 2019. On May 3, 2019, an Order to Show Cause hearing was held, and judgment for restitution was subsequently granted on May 14, 2019. The Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished opinion filed on June 15, 20120.

III. Issue Presented for Review

1. Is there any basis, as required under the Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure 13.4 (b) for this Court to accept discretionary review of this matter?

IV. Argument

A. Plaintiff's Motion for Alternative Service was Proper and Service of Process was Sufficient.

Appellant argues that service of the summons was defective, and that the amended summons must be filed concurrently with the summons (Opening Brief, p. 2-3 P1). However, an Amended Summons is permitted by the court at any point in the case prior to entry of the final judgment, RCW 59.12.160. The Summons was filed on November 9, 2018, *CP 1*, the Amended Summons was filed on January 16, 2019, *CP 8*, and the Judgment was entered on May 14, 2019, *CP 23*. Plaintiff complied with RCW 59.12.085 in properly moving for an Order Authorizing Alternative Service, *CP 3*, *CP 4*, *CP 5*, as it exercised due diligence in attempting to service on

Appellant pursuant to RCW 59.12.080. According to Plaintiff's Declaration of Diligence, filed in support of Plaintiff's Motion for Order Authorizing Alternative Service, *CP 4* pg. 2, Plaintiff unsuccessfully completed personal service upon Appellant after six separate attempts to serve the Appellant.

Petitioner unsuccessfully argued that Plaintiff failed to comply with service requirements of RCW 59.12.085 in serving the Amended Summons by Alternate Service, stating that an Amended Summons was posted on December 28, 2018, with a stated return date of January 4, 2019, when service not be less than nine days from the return date, (Opening Brief, p. 6 № 2; p. 7 № 1). According to the Plaintiff's proof of service, a Declaration of Diligence filed on January 7, 2019, CP 7, Appellant was served pursuant to RCW 59.12.085 on December 26, 2018, exactly nine days before the Amended Summons return date of January 4, 2019. The Declaration of Diligence also indicates that Defendants were mailed three copies of the Amended Summons and Complaint by first class and certified mailed to all Defendants on the same day, CP 7. Petitioner was required to deposit copies of the summons and complaint in the mail, postage prepaid, by both regular and certified mail to Defendants, as indicated in the Declaration of Diligence, regardless of actual day of receipt, RCW 59.12.085 (2)(b).

The Skagit County Superior Court concluded service was pursuant to RCW 59.12.085, as reflected a letter from Judge Brain L. Stiles dated May 14, 2019, *CP* 24, accompanying the entered Judgment entered on 5/14/2019, *CP* 23.

B. Plaintiff's Service of an 'Order to Show Cause'

Appellant argues that service of the Order to Show Cause, noting the hearing dates was out of compliance with service requirements pursuant to RCW 59.18.370, stating that the Order to Show Cause document, posted on Appellant's front door on April 24, 2019, was "neither order by a judge nor personally served upon the Appellant Welch at least seven (7) days before the May 3, 2019, hearing date. According to the Declaration of Diligence, *CP 19*, the Order to Show Cause document, *CP 11*, was indeed posted on April 24, 2019, which was in fact 9 days prior to the set Order to Show Cause hearing date of May 3, 2019, and is this in compliance with RCW 59.18.370.

Pertaining to the matter of personal service of the Order to Show Cause, *CP 11*, pursuant to RCW 59.18.055, an Order Alternative Service of the Summons and Complaint may be sought in instances where the tenant is unable to be successfully served, which was accomplished as the Summons and Complaint was Served by Alternative service, *CP 7*. Pursuant to 59.18.370, it is permissible to serve the Summons and Complaint and Order to Show Cause concurrently, therefore it is reasonable to serve the Order to Show Cause by the same method as the Summons and Complaint, including alternative service when personal service cannot be achieved. Additionally, the cited RCW 59.18.370 makes no distinction between the requirements of personal service versus alternative service when serving the Order to Show

Cause. The Order to Show Cause, CP 11, was granted by the Court on April

5, 2019, by court commissioner Gwen L. Halliday.

The Court of Appeals observed that the show cause notice was

served only seven days before the hearing, contrary to SCLR 6(d)(2)(i) (9

days). Unpublished Opinion, p. 6. However, the Court of Appeals correctly

concluded that Petitioner did not argue any prejudice and any error was

harmless and did not affect the outcome of the hearing. State v. Robinson,

153 Wn.2d 689, 697, 107 P.3d 90 (2005); State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58,

78, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). Petitioner does not provide any authority or basis

to deviate from these principles in an unlawful detainer contest.

.V. Conclusion

Discretionary review should be denied. The public interest does not

warrant review, nor is there conflict with established law.

MCCARTHY & HOLTHUS LLP

DATED: 9/11/2020

s/ John Thomas

John Thomas, WSBA No 42447

ithomas@mccarthyholthus.com

5